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FINAL HISTORIC DESIGNATION STUDY REPORT  
 

EMANUEL D. ADLER HOUSE 
 
 

I. NAME 
 

Historic: Emanuel D. Adler House 

 
Current Name: Elizabeth Apartments  

 

II. LOCATION 
 

 Address: 1681 North Prospect 

 
 Legal description: Tax Key Number 355-0028-8 
 

CAMBRIDGE SUBDIVISION PART LOT 6 SEC 21 & LOTS 15-16 BLK 198 ROGER‟SDDN IN NE & 
SE ¼ SEC 21-7-22 BLK 241 LOT 1 & N ½ LOT 2 
 

Third Aldermanic District: Michael S. D‟Amato, Alderman  
 
III. CLASSIFICATION 

 
  Building 
 

IV. OWNER 
V.  

Amarjet Singh Kalsey  

  2537 W. State Street 
  Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233 
 

V. YEAR BUILT 
 

1888
1
 

 
ARCHITECT 
 

Alfred C. Clas
2
 

 
VI.  PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION  

 
The Emanuel D. Adler House occupies a 60-foot by 143-foot lot at the southwest corner of Prospect 
Avenue and Brady Street.  The house itself measures approximately 40 feet  x 70 feet.  The building 

faces east and is situated at the north end of the lot.  The house is set back from the sidewalk behind 
a small front yard of grass and bushes.  A narrow side yard is situated along the south property line 
and is paved for parking.  A grassy shoulder extends along the north property line between the house 

and the sidewalk.  A breezeway, garage and paved parking space occupy the west or rear end of the 
property.  To the south, the Adler House is bordered by a modern six -story apartment building 
constructed in 1962.  To the north, the house is bordered across Brady Street by another modern 

apartment building.  Behind the Adler House, fronting on Farwell Avenue is an Osco pharmacy.  
Across the street, on the east side of Prospect Avenue is the former Booth House.  Built in the early 
1880‟s, it has been extensively remodeled and serves today as an eye care clinic.  The Adler House is 

                                                 
1 City of Milwaukee Building Permit Number 63, June 22, 1888. 
2 Ibid. 
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one of only a handful of mansions that survive from Prospect Avenue‟s heyday as Milwaukee‟s “gold 
coast”. 

 
The Adler House is a two-and-a-half story, rectangular building of Romanesque/Queen Anne design 
built in 1888.  The basement is sheathed in coursed rock-faced ashlar limestone masonry.  The 

masonry is dressed with convex rope-like mortar joints that have been repaired over the years.  The 
basement windows are simple squares.  The first story is clad on all elevations with random rock -faced 
ashlar limestone with dressed convex mortar joints. The second story is clad in red pressed brick.  The 

attic story and its gable are clad in red/salmon colored terra-cotta fish-scale tiles.  The steep pitched 
hip roof and dormers, once slate, are now covered with asphalt shingles.  Three chimneys extend from 
the roof; one, on the south slope, is supported by an ornamented tie rod; the second projects from the 

center; the third, from the rear, or west.  
 

The house is articulated with a projecting three story cylindrical tower at the façade‟s north corner.  Its 

roof is conical and still retains its slate cladding.  The arched entry, a projecting one-story stone portico 
that is adjacent to the tower, is framed with brown sandstone that has now been painted.  The arch is 
supported by a pier on the north side and a polished red granite column and pier on the other.   All 

three feature Romanesque-style foliated capitals of carved sandstone.  The portico also features 
decorative wrought iron railings as well as red sandstone balustrades.  Other projections are found: a 
small solarium bay window with curved glass on the first story  and a three-story, three-sided bay, both 

on the south elevation; a shallow, wooden, second-story oriel window on the north elevation.  Carved 
sandstone is used for many of the window lintels.  Sandstone is also used for sills. 

 

The east or main façade is an asymmetrical composition of projections.  The tower at the northeast 
corner is covered with random ashlar on both the first and second stories. It is counter -balanced at the 
southeast corner with a three-sided bay, each side of which has a window on both the first and second 

stories.  The center windows are emphasized with different decorative treatments.  On the first story is 
a large fixed plate glass unit that has an intricate, clear leaded glass transom. Paired double -hung 
sash windows above this on the second story are enframed within a slightly projecting wooden oriel, 

ornamented with panels of foliated carving above and below.  This bay is capped by a projecting gable 
that at the attic level encases a cluster of three sash windows. The arched stone entry porch stands 
between the tower and pavilion.  Between the tower roof and the gable, the roof slopes down as a 

hipped roof. In this slope two narrow dormer windows are staggered one above the other.  
 

The south elevation has, in addition to the bay window, a modern glassed-in sun porch, above which 

is a flat deck surrounded by an iron railing.  The remaining windows on this side are simple sash.  An 
interesting feature of this elevation is the chimneystack that rises through a gabled dormer window 
with ornamental, arched –top, multi-paned sash flanking the brick stack.   

 
The rear elevation is a simple, functional design with three randomly placed sash windows.  A gabled, 
one-story, wooden enclosure shelters the outside entrance to the basement while a modern wooden 

breezeway connects the back door of the house with a modern, gabled, two -car garage of concrete 
block.  

 

The north elevation on Brady Street features an asymmetrical arrangement of various sizes and 
shapes of windows that illuminate a stair hall, dining room and bedroom.  The largest, a second-story 
staircase window, allows light into the main hall.  Originally, it was glazed with panels of leaded glass.  

Immediately to the south is the aforementioned oriel, beneath the tall projecting attic gable, which is 
fenestrated with a band of four small sash windows. 

 

There have only been minor alterations to the exterior of the house.  A window has been converted 
into a door to provide access to the roof of the front porch.  The enclosed sun porch on t he south 
elevation was once an open wooden porch, and the flat deck above it is now accessed by a door that 

was inserted in a former window opening off the second floor rear hall. 
3
  The wooden enclosure over 

                                                 
3 Betty Turecek, interview, June 29, 1989, Milwaukee. 
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the rear basement door was constructed between 1894 and 1910; the concrete block garage was 
completed in 1934.

4
  A steel fire escape and a small jump platform were added to the building‟s north 

elevation, and the tower in 1947 and 1953, respectively.
5
  The Turecek‟s sold the stained glass panels 

of the stair hall windows in the 1970‟s.  Since 1989 a multi-paned sash was removed from one of the 
front dormer windows and replaced with a single light window and the sandstone trim around the 

porch has been painted.  
 

Although local historic designation does not extend to the interiors of buildings, the Adler House is 

remarkably well preserved and a deserves a brief description.  The interior of the Adler House is laid 
out in the typical Queen Anne living hall-centered floor plan.  Paneled oak, double leaf entry doors with 
large, decorative metal strap hinges and panels of foliated carving open to an oak wainscoted 

vestibule.  A second pair of half-glazed double doors, each with a plain grid of leaded glass lights, lead 
into the large stair hall, off of which open the principal rooms of the first floor.  The broad oak stairs rise 
to the second floor in three flights in a U-shaped configuration along the north wall.  The oak stair 

railing is a two-tiered composition with a narrow band of delicate rod-and-ball spindle work below the 
hand rail supported on a tier of regularly spaced turned balusters.  The main newel post at the foot of 
the stairs is a massive, unturned, rounded oak column with wide bands of foliated carving at the top 

and stringer levels.  The intermediate newels are square paneled posts with tapering, carved foliated 
tops that project above the handrail. Oak paneling is used for wainscoting on the stairs.  On the north 
side of the hall next to the vestibule is a small sitting room located in the base of the tower.  It was 

originally open to the first stair landing, but has now been partitioned into a room with a door.  To the 
left of the stair hall stretching across the front of the house is the parlor.  To the left of the stair hall and 
behind the front parlor is a large room decorated with a beamed ceiling and the most prominent 

fireplace in the house.  Although now partitioned off, this was originally part of the large living hall and 
was open to the staircase.  To the rear of the living hall is another large room, probably originally the 
family sitting room or library.  Behind the stair hall is the dining room.  Across the rear of the house are 

the kitchen, pantry and a service hall with stairs leading from the basement to the upper floors.  This 
hall provides access to the modern enclosed porch.  A small room at the rear door was probably used 
for receiving deliveries and as a mudroom off the kitchen.  

 
The second story layout generally conforms to the arrangement of the rooms on the floor below.  At  
the top of the stairs, a hall bisects the interior from east to west, while a smaller service hall runs from 

north to south across the back of the house. There are four main family bedrooms, two at the front of 
the house and two in the middle, with two smaller maid‟s rooms at the rear above the kitchen -pantry 
area.  The two main bedrooms along the south side of the house each have fireplaces and are 

separated by a bathroom to which both rooms have access.  The bedroom in the tower has a small, 
interior oriel window with beveled glass panes that overlooks the main stairwell.  A second bathroom 
opens up off the hall today in a space that was probably originally used as a linen closet.  

 
The third or attic story contains a large, plainly finished ballroom area,  a smaller wainscoted room with 
a plate rail that was probably originally a billiard room, and a smaller room at the rear that was 

probably used for storage, clothes drying or as a servant‟s quarters.  
 

The Adler House retains most of its original interior detailing, although it has undergone some 

repartitioning to accommodate its use as a rooming house.  Wainscoting can be found in the vestibule 
and stair hall.  The walls of these rooms have raised plaster decorations consisting of widely spaced, 
scroll-enframed fleur-de-lis medallions on the staircase wall, and a frieze of scrolls and flowers in the 

vestibule.  All of the first floor rooms retain their original fireplaces, and each is of a different design 
with different glazed tile surrounds.  The massive oak fireplace is situated in the central room, which 
was once open to the stair hall as part of the grand reception hall with its beamed oak ceiling.  This 

fireplace extends to the ceiling with a paneled oak overmantel ornamented with two carved plaques of 

                                                 
4 Insurance Maps of Milwaukee Wisconsin, Vol. I, p. 44, New York: Sanborn Perris Map Co., 1894; 

Milwaukee, City Building Permits, 1681 North Prospect Avenue, December 12, 1933.   
5 Building Permits, March 5, 1947, March 27, 1947 and May 27, 1953.  
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griffins.  A frieze of oak leaves and scrolls flanking the Adler family crest (an eagle with a padlock in its 
beak) is carved below the mantle shelf. Freestanding colonnettes flank the wide tile fireplace surround.  

 
The front parlor has delicate, scrolled floral plaster ornament on its ceiling.  There is a patterned, 
beveled, leaded glass transom above its main window.  The front parlor fireplace is dark natural wood 

in a Neo-classical design with fluted pilasters flanking the firebox and a large, simply enframed, plate 
glass mirror overmantel.  The tile surround depicts portraits of male heads in classical warrior garb.  

 

The rear parlor is simpler than the front parlor and living hall in its design.  It is ornamented with a 
corner wooden mantle that retains its original finish.  The tile surround, in shades of tans and browns, 
depicts floral designs, putti, and the motto “Tempus Fugit”. Opposite the fireplace, each window of the 

bay is enframed in moldings that resemble, but do not duplicate the mantel.  Th e fixed transom above 
the large center window features a delicate stained glass pattern.  The former dining room has dark -
stained, high wainscoting and a corner fireplace with a mirrored overmantel.  A patterned tin ceiling 

covers the ceilings of the back hall and kitchen area although a dropped ceiling now obscures much of 
it. 
 

The upstairs bedrooms retain much of their original woodwork and have not been partitioned.  The two 
largest rooms feature fireplaces, each, of a different design. 

 

The north front bedroom, which was probably intended as a nursery, has simple woodwork and is 
connected to the other front bedroom with a door.  It is spatially interesting with its rounded bay on the 
east, part of the tower, and an interior oriel window that overlooks the staircase on its west wall.  The 

south front bedroom, Mrs. Adler‟s, is a very spacious one.  It features a Japanese-inspired corner 
mantel carved to look like bamboo.  The mantel‟s center plaque is ornamented with Oriental flowers, 
while the gold-colored tile surrounds depict flowers ascending from Oriental pots.  This bedroom also 

features a small rectangular oriel window with a window seat overlooking Prospect Avenue.  The 
bedroom opens directly into the main bathroom.  
 

The bathroom features small, white floor tile and larger, rectangular tile as wainscoting.   A tile frieze of 
garlands and ribbons enriches the wainscoting which is capped by a projecting tile molding in an egg 
and dart pattern.  A freestanding, footed tub occupies one end of the bathroom while at the other end 

is a large, handsome pedestal sink with a Doric columnar base.  Between the bathroom and the main 
hallway is a linen closet area.  

 

The third bedroom connects directly with the main bathroom through a small vestibule fitted with a 
sink.  The room was originally intended as Mr. Adler‟s bedroom.  It retains its original door and 
woodwork, although they have been painted.  The room has a three-sided bay on its south wall.  The 

simple corner fireplace is ornamented with incised floral patterns and bands of geometric patterns,  Its 
tile surround represents twining ivy leaves with a mosaic-like finish.  
 

The last of the four family bedrooms on the second floor is on the north aide of the house.  It has a bay 
window, like the other three bedrooms, but lacks a fireplace.  It does feature an original built -in sink 
with marble backsplash as well as a spindle fretwork valance at the bay window.  A similar fretwork 

valance originally graced the window of Mrs. Adler‟s bedroom, but has since been remo ved. 
 

Alterations to the interior on the first floor consist of two partitions that divide the living hall from the 

stairwell and to make a room out of the tower sitting area.  The latter is now used as an office for the 
rooming house.  Weather damage necessitated the need to cover the rounded glass roof of the 
conservatory bay window at the south end of the former living hall.

6
  A new door has been cut through 

to the staircase hall from the front parlor, and the original double doorway from the living hall  has been 
sealed up.  The dumbwaiter, which serviced all floors, has had its mechanical components removed.  
The partitions in the former pantry and kitchen area were extensively rearranged in 1947.

7
  The 

                                                 
6 Betty Turecek. 
7 Building permits, March 5, 1947. 
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service stairs are said to have been reversed at that time, although they apparently remain in the 
same general location.  Sinks and kitchen appliances have been added to most of the rooms for the 

use of the tenants.  A full bath has been added on the first floor under the main staircase in the space 
previously occupied by the stairway to the basement.  The dining room‟s pocket doors have been 
removed from their pocket in the wall and hinged to provide swinging double doors for the rental unit 

that now occupies the former dining room.  Glass panels have been inserted in these doors in place of 
the original oak panels.  The wide doorway between the rear parlor and the dining room has been 
closed.

8
 

 
Alterations to the second floor appear to consist mainly of the addition of a second bathroom in the 
former linen closet, and the removal of pieces of spindle fretwork valances that originally trimmed the 

top of most of the windows in the family bedrooms.  On the third story, the ballroom space has been 
partitioned into a two-bedroom-with-kitchen apartment.  

 

VII.  SIGNIFICANCE 
 

The Adler House is significant as an excellent example of an 1880‟s Queen Anne building with 

Romanesque Revival detailing and the sole surviving example of that hybrid form on Prospect 
Avenue.  It was constructed as an upper class residence and was designed by one of Milwaukee‟s 
most prominent architects, Alfred C. Clas.  In his brief period of private practice Clas seems to have 

been one of the foremost designers of houses that combined Queen Anne style form with 
Romanesque detail and solidity.  The Adler House is one of the few remaining homes that exemplifies 
the costly and finely crafted styling enjoyed by Milwaukee‟s German elite in the late 19

th
 century and 

stands among the select few in the state with this level of detailing.  
 
 

ARCHITECTURE 
 
The Adler House is one of Milwaukee‟s few remaining examples of a Queen Anne Style house that 

was influenced by the Romanesque Revival.  The Romanesque Revival was popular in Germany and 
with the German immigrants to the United States.  It is a style motivated by function, as can be seen 
by the variety of articulations to the exterior of the house designed for Emanuel and Clara Adler.  The 

picturesque form of the house with its asymmetrical façade, vertically oriented corner tower with 
conical roof and profusion of dormers and bays and variety of cladding materials all have root in the 
popular Queen Anne Style of the times, a style most often interpreted in wood.  The application of the 

ashlar masonry, the heavy masonry and stone trim, the arched entry porch and medieval cushion 
capitals, however, come out of the Romanesque tradition and impart a sense of durability and 
permanence that is often lacking in more textbook examples of the Queen Anne.  But in contrast to 

Richardsonian Romanesque with its emphasis on volume and one unifying cladding material this 
hybrid seamlessly blends the two traditions. 

 

The Adler House is architecturally significant as a fine example of a Queen Anne dwelling with 
Romanesque features. This dwelling type was popular with the city‟s wealthy German-American 
residents in the 1880‟s and „90‟s. The revival of interest in the Romanesque style in the 1880‟s struck 

a responsive chord among Milwaukee‟s wealthy German residents, and it soon became the preferred 
residential mode among this group although the number of built examples remained small .  Always 
partial to massive masonry buildings with ponderous detailing and solid masonry porches, the 

German-Americans soon abandoned the heavy Italianate and Victorian Gothic styles that had 
previously been popular and wholeheartedly adopted the Romanesque style.  Soon, hulking, towered, 
brick and limestone mansions with deep arched loggias began to appear in fashionable rows in the 

city‟s most heavily German residential precincts or mansion-class thoroughfares like Prospect Avenue.   
 
Particularly well-known and much admired groupings were constructed in the1880‟s and 1890‟s on 

Highland Boulevard, popularly known as Sauerkraut Boulevard at the time, and in the now vanished 

                                                 
8 Betty Turecek. 
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Uihlein‟s Hill neighborhood. None of these houses survive today.  Even on Prospect Avenue itself, the 
number of mansions representing this hybrid Queen Anne/Romanesque remained small and included 

the Christian Wahl House (1426 N. Prospect c.1886, architect unknown), the George M. Tibbits House 
(old number 277 Prospect c. 1889, architect unknown), the Jonas Cohen House (1567 N. Prospect c. 
1888, Alfred C. Clas architect, razed), the George H. Heinemann House (1672 N. Prospect 1887, 

Henry C. Koch architect, razed), and the H. M. Benjamin House (1850 N. Prospect 1888, Alfred C. 
Clas architect, razed).  Interestingly, Alfred C. Clas who went on to distinguish himself in partnership 
with George B. Ferry by designing buildings in the Beaux Arts and Classical Revival styles designed 

many of the hybrid Queen Anne/Romanesque examples cited above.  
 
Although not as grand as some of the now demolished Queen Anne/Romanesque Revival influenced 

houses built for the city‟s German elite, the Adler House nevertheless embodies the heavy masonry, 
medieval-inspired detailing, picturesque silhouette and dark, woody interiors that apparently reminded 
the Germans of the forti fied manor houses and castles of their homeland.  The finely crafted 

woodwork, stonework and ironwork so beloved by the Germans were integral to the Romanesque 
style and contributed to its popularity.  While the Yankee community generally embraced the much 
lighter and more whimsical Queen Anne style in the 1880‟s and early 1890‟s, the Germans remained 

loyal to the Romanesque to a remarkable degree until they turned to the more historically inspired 
German Renaissance Revival styles in the mid-1890‟s.  The inherent costliness of building in the 
Romanesque mode limited the construction of this type of house to the wealthy, but because of the 

general prosperity of the 1880‟s a number of them were built in Milwaukee.  With the wholesale 
destruction of entire neighborhoods and the spot demolition of many individual examples since 1960, 
the Adler House survives today as perhaps the finest remaining Queen Anne/Romanesque Revival 

house in the city. 
 
The Adler House is also significant as an important early work of prominent local architect Alfred C. 

Clas.  Following the break with his partner James Douglas in 1887, Clas worked as an independent 
architect for several years before establishing a new partnership.  His work in this period exhibits finely 
detailed and flamboyant examples of the Queen Anne and Romanesque style.  These picturesque 

qualities would be replaced with the more subdued Classical Revival after Clas began his partnership 
with George Bowman Ferry in 1890.  Clas went on to become an important urban planner in 
Milwaukee in the early decades of the twentieth century.  

 
VIII.  HISTORY 

 

PROSPECT AVENUE 
 
Today‟s Prospect Avenue had its origins in the Sauk Trail, an unimproved road that followed the 

course of an Indian foot path that paralleled the Lake Michigan shoreline from Milwaukee to Port 
Washington.  Its destination soon led early settlers to call the trail the Port Washington Road, and it 
retained this name until 1853 when the name Prospect Street was adopted.  Prospect Street was 

elevated to the status of an avenue in 1875.  The northern extension of the Sauk Trail became today‟s 
Lake Drive.

9
  As an urban thoroughfare, Prospect Avenue began at the intersection of Juneau Avenue 

and proceeded diagonally northeast following the Lake Michigan shoreline, eventually veering due 

north away from Lake Michigan in the vicinity of East Bradford Avenue.  It was not until 1927 that 
Prospect Avenue was extended south of Juneau Avenue to Wisconsin Avenue.  At various times in 
the nineteenth century, East Side streets such as Knapp and Brady Streets were extended to intersect 

with Prospect Avenue.  The last major street opening to occur was the eas tward extension of Ogden 
Avenue to Prospect Avenue in 1956-1957.

10
 

 

                                                 
9 Milwaukee Public Library Humanities Room. Street File; James S. Buck, Pioneer History of 
Milwaukee from the First American Settlement in 1833 to 1841 Milwaukee: Milwaukee News 

Company, 1876), p. 46; [Frank A. Flower], History of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (Chicago: The Western 

Historical Company, 1881), p. 2. 
10 Interview with Bob Steege, City of Milwaukee Bureau of Engineers, December 16, 1987. 
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Historically, Prospect Avenue developed in two phases.  Lower Prospect Avenue, south of Brady 
Street, was the earliest portion to become residential, while Prospect Avenue north of Brady St reet 

developed about twenty years later.   
 
Although lower Prospect Avenue had been platted as part of Roger‟s Addition in 1847, early maps and 

city directories confirm that only a handful of residences had been built on it by the mid-1850s.
11

  The 
neighborhood‟s distance from commercial activity and relative inaccessibility from the heart of the city 
explains Prospect Avenue‟s slow development, although the area‟s residential potential was 

recognized as early as 1852 when a letter to the Sentinel‟s editor proclaimed that “North Point is 
destined to become a favorite building spot”.

12
 

 

Prospect Avenue remained a semi-rural outpost through the 1850‟s, a part of the city accessible only 
to those who could afford their own transportation to the business district downtown.  A smattering of 
houses on estate-sized lots were built by those with financial means and included J.H. Paine, W.H. 

Wright (an attorney and land agent), and Gundar Pfeil.  The thoroughfare had not yet achieved 
architectural distinction although prominent architect E. Townsend Mix was reported to have designed 
a “Norman style” frame dwelling for A.F. Clarke.  Albert C Nash designed a five-unit, $25,000 brick and 

stone rowhouse for J.S.  Benham and Company.  A cupola-crowned, frame, Italianate house, later 
occupied by hardware merchant Robert M. Haney was also constructed in the late 1850‟s at what 
would later be addressed as 1333 North Prospect Avenue.

13
 Described as a muddy thoroughfare with 

roaming groups of pigs, geese and ducks a Sentinel article also implied that, despite the views of Lake 
Michigan, the residents of Prospect Avenue  “probably live in utter unappreciation of its beauties”.

14
 

  

Prospect Avenue received more attention with the coming of the street railway and the location of a 
Civil War encampment.  The first horse drawn streetcars began operating downtown on May 27, 1860 
and by 1862 the Lake Shore Branch of the River and Lake Shore City Railway had extended a line up 

Prospect Avenue to North Avenue.  The line was later cut back to terminate at Albion Street due to 
lack of profitability after it was absorbed by the Milwaukee City Railway Company.  In 1874 the line 
was relocated to Farwell Avenue under the ownership of the Cream City Railway.   

 
The Civil War encampment, Camp Reno, also drew people to upper Prospect Avenue.  Originally 
called Camp Sigel, but later renamed after General Jesse Reno, who was killed in action on 

September 15, 1862, the encampment occupied a tract of land leased from A.L. Kane and was 
bounded by East Royall Place, East Lafayette Place, North Bartlett Avenue and Prospect Avenue.  
During the government‟s occupation of this camp from 1861 through December of 1865, about 800 

men and officers were quartered there.
15

 
 
City directories show about 48 persons living on Prospect Avenue in 1865 although this number is 

probably smaller that the actual population due to the incomplete listings in the directories.  A number 
of those who were listed were located near the Camp Reno grounds and had blue collar occupations 

                                                 
11 Milwaukee County Plats, Vol. 1, p. 40; Increase Lapham, Map of the City of Milwaukee, State of 

Wisconsin (New York: George Harrison, 1855); H.F. Walling, Map of the County of Milwaukee , 
Wisconsin (New York: M.H. Tyler, 1858). 
12 James s. Buck, Milwaukee Under the Charter from 1847 to 1853 Inclusive  (Milwaukee: Symes, 
Swain & Co., 1884), p. 399. 
13 Andrew J. Aikens, Annual Report of the Commerce, Manufactures, Banking, Business, and 

Railroad System of Milwaukee for the year 1855 (Milwaukee: Daily American Steam Press, 1856), p. 
8; Increase Lapham, Map; Rascher‟s Fire Insurance Atlas of the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin  

(Chicago: Charles Rascher, 1888), vol. III, p. 166; H. Russell Zimmermann, “Prospect‟s Oldest 

House Shows Traces of Opulence ,” Milwaukee Journal, January 25, 1970, part 7, p. 1. 
14 Landscape Research, Built in Milwaukee (Milwaukee, Department of City Development, 1981), p. 

182 
15 “Civil War Installations”, Lower East Side Neighborhood Historic Resources Survey. Prepared for 
the City of Milwaukee, Department of City Development. February, 1988, pp. 86-89. 
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like carpenters, masons, laborers and so on.  Professionals and merchants made up the remainder of 
the residents and they tended to occupy property south of Brady Street.  More intensive development 

occurred along the avenue following the Civil War and in 1868 the Sentinel reported that some seven 
residences were under construction north of Albion Street.  The houses were either brick veneered or 
frame and ranged in price from $5,000 to $8,000.  The owners included educator R. C. Spencer, Smith 

Robertson, Albert Weller and J.A. Helfenstein and the Sentinel reported that they had planted elms 
along the street that would “make this one of the pleasantest streets in the city in a few years.”

16
    

 

The construction of larger and costlier houses accelerated in the 1870‟s and their appearance would 
be what we would commonly consider mansions today.  Most of these were designed by the city‟s top 
architects.  The High Victorian Italianate and High Victorian Gothic styles dominated this period and 

included such striking examples as the Collins -Elwell-Cary House designed by James Douglas (1876, 
1363 N. Prospect Ave., standing), the O.J. Hale – Washington Becker House (1870‟s, 1409 N. 
Prospect Ave., razed), the George C. Houghton House designed by E. Townsend Mix (1875, 1820 N.  

Prospect Ave., razed in 1965), the Charles Ray House designed by E. Townsend Mix (1878, 1400 N. 
Prospect Ave., razed) and the Lawrence Van Dyke Double House (1880, 1306-1308 N. Prospect Ave., 
razed).  These luxurious dwellings coexisted with the earlier, more modest houses for the time being 

but that would change. 
 
By 1881 Prospect Avenue had gained a reputation for its elegant mansions.  Describing it as a “broad 

and splendid avenue” a writer went on to say that “as far as the eye can see, Prospect Avenue  is lined 
with houses, many of which fall little short of palaces.”

17
  Local historian James S. Buck concurs with 

this evaluation and states that the “First Ward is a beautiful place for residences, particularly the upper 

portion of it, and is now fast filling up with costly residences, but it was a long time getting into line.  It 
will, however, be all occupied in time with the homes of the wealthy up as far as Ferny Brae.”  Buck 
favorably compared Prospect Avenue with West Wisconsin Avenue‟s mansion row, b ut inaccurately 

predicted that the East Side‟s “moist and chilly winter atmosphere” put it at such disadvantage that the 
West Wisconsin Avenue district, with its views of the lake (residents could see it then) and the 
Menomonee Valley and its milder climate, would always remain preeminent.

18
  

 
Prospect Avenue reached its zenith in the period from about 1880 to 1905 and gained a reputation as 
Milwaukee‟s “Gold Coast” neighborhood.  Fire insurance atlases show that by 1910 many of the early 

modest frame houses had been replaced by large, costly, architect-designed residences.  Many of the 
more substantial early houses were brought up to date with the addition of bay windows, wings, new 
facades, towers and porches.

19
  

 
The bluff side of the Prospect Avenue became a preferred residential location during the late 
nineteenth century because of unparalleled views of Lake Michigan and the Milwaukee Bay.  The 

larger mansions frequently sprawled over several lots on the lake side of the street with up to 100 -foot 
frontages, in contrast to their neighbors across the avenue who generally occupied much narrower 
lots. 

 
Many families prominent in the financial, commercial, entrepreneurial and industrial spheres of 
Milwaukee moved to Prospect Avenue between the 1870s and the turn of the twentieth century and 

either constructed or remodeled existing structures.  Among those on the roll call of famous names 
were: lumbermen O.P. Pillsbury, David M. Benjamin, A. K. Hamilton, George C. Swallow, J. L. Gates 
and George Stanley Mitchell; real estate magnates Arthur N. McGeoch, Alonzo Kane, Sanford Kane, 

and John Mariner; clothing wholesalers and manufacturers Jonas Cohen, David Adler and Emmanuel 
Adler; dry goods and grocery wholesalers H. M. Mendel, Frederick Goll, and Oscar Loeffler; 
manufacturers Christian Wahl, A.F. Gallun, Isaac Van Shaik, W. H. Keepers, Val Blatz Jr., William H. 

                                                 
16 Milwaukee Sentinel, March 17, 1868, p. 1, col. 5. 
17 Flower, p. 423. 
18 Buck, Under the Charter 1847-1853. p. 399-400. 
19 Rascher‟s, 1888, vol. 3 pp. 165-168; Insurance Maps of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (New York: 
Sanborn-Perris Map Co., 1894), vol. I, pp. 45-46. 
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Osborn, George Morrison, Andrew Story Goodrich, Charles McIntosh, Charles Allis and L.J. Petit; 
financiers Grant Fitch, William Bigelow, George C. Houghton,  Samuel Marshall and Washington 

Becker; attorneys and political figures Thomas L. Kennan, Frank Hoyt, Alfred L. Cary, Charles D. 
Mann, George Noyes, George W. Peck, Thomas H. Spence, and William C. Quarles; insurance 
executive Willard Merrill; industrialist Charles Ray; educator Robert C. Spencer (founder of the 

Spencerian Business College); and architects Thomas Van Alyea and Armand D. Koch.  As these 
names indicate, Prospect Avenue residents were of diverse ethnic backgrounds ranging from Yankee 
to Irish to German to Jewish.  Historian James Buck ultimately misjudged Prospect Avenue‟s eventual 

status because quite a number of westsiders eventually forsook their Wisconsin Avenue mansions and 
moved to the east side.  Patrick Cudahy, the well-known meatpacker, and streetcar magnate 
Washington Becker being prominent among these.  

 
Many of the abovementioned individuals moved from house to house on Prospect Avenue.  From the 
mid-1890‟s to about the time of World War I there was a continual movement of the city‟s elite as 

builders of 1870s and 1880s houses and their descendants constructed newer residences, moved 
north to the neighborhood at North Point, and still later moved to even larger estate properties on Lake 
Drive at and beyond the city limits.   

 
Prospect Avenue retained its fashionable character well into the 1920‟s, as is evident from city 
directory listings and the continued operation of nearby recreational activities patronized by 

Milwaukee‟s elite including the Town Club and Berg‟s Riding Academy.  Some private schools also 
remained in the vicinity.  But the seeds of change had already been sown, and the opulent and over 
decorated Victorian era mansions were increasingly falling out of favor with the younger generation of 

well-to-do residents.  As the demand for housing remained strong, apartment buildings began to 
replace single-family houses in adjacent neighborhoods.  Over the objection of the well -to-do residents 
the city imposed zoning that encouraged apartment construction on the avenue beginning in the 

1920‟s, a policy that guaranteed the demolition of the once touted mansions of the Gold Coast.  By the 
late 1920‟s some fifteen apartment buildings had been constructed leading many to flee the “changing 
neighborhood” that now included many more transient residents.  Boarding houses and hostelries 

came to occupy some of the houses while others were taken over by schools and organizations or 
used for professional offices as the Wisconsin Nurses Association, Prospect Hall Secretarial School, 
Conrad Schmitt Interior Decorators (predecessor of today‟s Conrad Schmitt Studios), The Marwood 

Music Studio, the Wisconsin Conservatory of Music and The Bayside Tea Room.  The Great 
Depression accelerated this transformation and by the end of World War II many of th e houses that 
survived change to commercial use found themselves converted into rooming houses to ease housing 

shortages.   
 

The post-war boom years brought new construction to Prospect Avenue.  In 1950 alone, six permits 

were issued to construct apartment buildings that ranged in size from two to nine stories in height.  
The trend to larger and taller apartment buildings peaked in the 1960's when thirteen such structures 
were built, the tallest of which was twenty-one stories high.  After a lull in the 1970‟s one big project 

was built in 1981, the twenty-one story Diamond Tower Condominium at 1633 n. Prospect Avenue, 
which took down three mansions for the new site and a fourth to use as a staging area during 
construction.  The twenty-eight story, 275-unit apartment Landmark on the Lake was built at 1660 N. 

Prospect in 1990.  With the disappearance of most of the old mansion stock on the avenue, the latest 
trend is to replace existing apartment buildings with larger structures for condominiums.  Nearing 
completion at this time is a new structure replacing the five -story Marina View Manor that dated only 

from 1968.  
 

During the 1960‟s the last of the socially elite, chiefly elderly widows or spinsters, finally sold their 

Prospect Avenue homes or died.  Among the last individual homeowners on North Prospect Avenue 
were Mrs. Grant Fitch (1321), Mrs. Arthur C. Swallow (1820), Mrs. Butler Ayer (1543), Miss Josephine 
Goll (1550), Mrs. William C. Quarles (1660), and Mrs. Stanley Hauxhurst (nee Louise Van Dyke, 
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1551).
20

 
 

Because the lake side was the preferred location for new apartment buildings, by 2003 only three 
individual residence remained standing: the Goll House (1550), the McIntosh House/Wisconsin 
Conservatory of Music (1584) and the Booth House /Milwaukee Eye Care Associates (1684).  On the 

west side of the avenue twelve residences remain between East Ogden Avenue and East Lafayette 
Place.   

 

Emanuel Adler‟s choice to settle on Prospect Avenue was possibly motivated by the proximity to his 
father and brother‟s doublehouse some ten doors south at 1587 N. Prospect Avenue built in 1885-86.  
The cache of living on Prospect Avenue would have been a draw in itself.  As mentioned above, by 

the time the Adler‟s chose to build, the avenue had undergone a complete transform ation and was 
filling up with expensive mansions.  Adler‟s German Jewish ethnicity was no drawback to his locating 
here as many a self made man from a variety of backgrounds found equal footing on the Gold Coast.  

His wife Clara Schloss was from the monied class herself, her father being a millionaire in Detroit.  
 
The Adler‟s choice of the hybrid Queen Anne/Romanesque Revival shows them to have been 

knowledgeable about the new developments in architectural design and they were probably familiar 
with the beautifully detailed house built by T.A. Chapman for his daughter Laura and son -in-law 
George P. Miller at 1060 E. Juneau Avenue (1887).  The latter was designed by Chicago architect 

August Fiedler and combined stone, brick, terra cotta and slate in a very European interpretation of the 
Romanesque.  The Adler‟s likewise utilized a variety of materials on their house but the resulting mix 
of Romanesque with Queen Anne led to a structure that was definitely more American in character 

and one that was not particularly common in Milwaukee.  Local architect Alfred C. Clas seemed to 
have been one of the few local designers well versed in the hybrid style.  The Adler‟s long occupancy 
in the house ensured its survival and the house has come down to us in an amazing state of 

preservation.  
 
EMANUEL ADLER 

 
Emanuel D. Adler (1854-April 3, 1936) was a respected local businessman who ran one of the city‟s 
pioneer clothing manufacturing companies.  He was born in Milwaukee, the son of David and Fannie 

(Newbouer) Adler. David Adler was a native of Neustadt, Austria and was a baker by profession.  He 
immigrated to New York in August of 1846 and set himself up in his trade.  He married Fannie 
Newbouer, also a native of Austria. In 1851 he left New York for Milwaukee, where his brother 

Solomon was already established in the clothing business.
21

 
 
Over the years, various family members and in-laws participated in what had become the city‟s second 

largest clothing firm by 1880.
22

  Solomon Adler had arrived in Milwaukee in 1848 and is generally 
credited with founding his family‟s clothing company, which was later incorporated as David Adler and 
Sons.  Originally, Adler had a retail clothing shop in partnership with Jacob Steinhart.  After the 

dissolution of the partnership, Adler began to manufacture clothing.  It was at this point that his 
brother, David Adler, was persuaded to relocate to the Midwest.  David abandoned the baker‟s trade 
and opened a small retail-clothing store on today‟s North Water Street.  When Solomon retired in1857, 

David took over his wholesale operation and, with his nephew Jacob, went into the business as D. and 
J. Adler.  Jacob left the business two years later and Solomon came out of retirement to take an active 

                                                 
20 Francis Butler Ayer, “The Old Order Changeth,” Exclusively Yours, Sept. 1951, pp.15, 17; Chet 

Kellogg, “Prospect and Retrospect”, Exclusively Yours, Sept. 18, 1961, pp. 6-10 ff; Chet Kellogg, 

“Prospect in Retrospect”, Exclusively Yours, Nov. 7, 1961, pp. 38-39 ff. 
21 William George Bruce, History of Milwaukee City and County, Vol. 3 (Milwaukee: S.J. Clarke 

Publishing Company, 1922), p.8. 
22 Margaret Walsh, “Industrial Opportunity on the Urban Frontier: „Rags to Riches‟, and Milwaukee 
Clothing Manufacturers, 1840-1880,” Wisconsin Magazine of History, Spring, 1974, p.183. 
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role in the business. The company thrived during the Civil War, and by 1870 the clothing produced 
was valued at $150,000.

23
 

 
During the decade of 1870, Milwaukee saw a rapid expansion of the men‟s ready -to-wear clothing 
industry, and the Adler‟s ranked among the top manufacturers of their day.  By 1872 their operation 

had expanded from Water Street to a second location on today‟s East Clybourn Street. Solomon Adler 
again withdrew from active participation in the business, and David Adler‟s son-in-law, Henry M. 
Mendel, and David Adler‟s son, Isaac, became partners in the company that was renamed Adler, 

Mendel & Company.  After Mendel left the business in 1878, David Adler brought in two sons, 
Emanuel and Samuel as partners.  By the time the company incorporated under the name David Adler 
and Sons they had a capital investment of $375,000.

24
 

 
The 1880‟s were a decade of prosperity for the company. In 1890 the Adler‟s built an impressive, 
seven-story, Richardsonian Romanesque-style factory at the southwest corner of North Water Street 

and East Clybourn Street (razed).  The prominent local architect, Henry C. Koch, designed the $75, 
000 building

25
.  Eventually the Adler Company manufactured goods at seven locations throughout the 

city and employed about 900 persons.
26

  In this century the company‟s offices were moved to larger 

quarters in the former Wellauer and Hoffman Company Building at 246 North Broadway (extant).  The 
company became known for its line of Adler Collegian Clothes.  Nationwide annual sales for the 
company by the early 1920‟s totaled one and one -half million dollars.

27
 

 
David Adler branched out into other enterprises and was one of the organizers of the Wisconsin 
National Bank, predecessor of today‟s First Wisconsin National Bank (now Firstar).  He was also one 

of the founders and vice-presidents of the National Straw Works.  In addition, Adler was president of 
Temple Emanu-El Congregation and president of the Jewish Orphan Asylum in Cleveland, Ohio.  
David Adler remained president of his clothing firm until his death at the age of 84 on January 23, 

1905. 
 
Because of his father‟s business success, Emanuel D. Adler led a comfortable li fe. He was educated 

in the city‟s public schools and then attended the prestigious German -English Academy, the 
Milwaukee Academy, and the Spencerian Business College.  When he was seventeen years old, 
Emanuel began working for his father‟s company as a salesman.

28
  He moved up to vice-president 

after the business was incorporated and served as company treasurer after his father‟s death, while 
his brother, Isaac served as president and general manager.  Emanuel Adler assumed the reins of 
presidency in 1925 following his brother Isaac‟s death and liquidated the company in the fall of 1929 at 

the time he announced his retirement.  At the time of its closing the Sentinel reported that David Adler 
and Sons was one of the oldest concerns in the country and was nationally known.  Its two surviving 
manufacturing buildings in the city, at today‟s South Seventh and Arthur and at Fourth and Locust, 

were being sold off and the factories at Plymouth, Wisconsin and Waukesha had already been shut 
down while the main office at Broadway and Buffalo had been leased.  The company was reported to 
have had annual sales in the range of three million dollars and employed 850 workers.

29
 

 
Emanuel Adler‟s other business interests included the vice-presidency of National Straw Works and a 
twenty year trusteeship of Northwest Mutual Life Insurance Company.  He was also the City 

Commissioner of Public Debt for nine years and vice-president of Mount Sinai Hospital.  Adler was a 
member of the Milwaukee Athletic Club, the Wisconsin Club, and the Oconomowoc Country Club.

30
 

                                                 
23 Ibid., pp.184-185. 
24 Ibid., p.186. 
25 Milwaukee Sentinel, May 4, 1890, p.4, cols. 5-6 
26 Bruce, pp. 8, 15. 
27 Ibid., p. 8; Milwaukee Sentinel, October 31, 1929, p.14. 
28 Ibid., p. 15. 
29 “Adler Company Quits Business.” Milwaukee Sentinel. October 31, 1929, p. 20. 
30 “E.D. Adler, 81, Dead in West”, Obituary in Milwaukee Journal, April 4, 1936, Sect. 1, p.5. 
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In his bachelor days, Emanuel Adler lived with his parents at their various residences on Milwaukee‟s 

east side but primarily in the house at the corner of Astor Street and Kilbourn Avenue (razed) where 
the family resided from around 1868 through 1882.  When his parents went to Europe for a long trip in 
1883, Emanuel and his brother, Samuel, took up bachelor quarters together on Broadway between 

Wisconsin Avenue and Mason Street and then at the Plankinton House Hotel (razed).  Emanuel Adler 
continued to live at the hotel after Samuel moved to a house on Marshall Street in 1886.

31
  When he 

was thirty-four, Emanuel married Clara H. Schloss of Detroit.  The nuptials were held at Detroit‟s 

Phoenix Club on Thursday, May 3, 1888.  The Milwaukee Sentinel reported that several Milwaukeeans 
attended the wedding.  In Milwaukee, local Adler Company employees were treated to entertainment 
at the Schlitz Park that same evening in honor of the occasion.  The press also reported that Clara‟s 

millionaire father, Seligman Schloss, was building the couple a handsome residence on Prospect 
Avenue as a wedding gift

32
.  Clara and Emanuel‟s new house was only ten doors north of the double 

house at 1587 North Prospect Avenue, built in 1885-86 and designed by local architect James 

Douglas to house his father, David, and his brother, Isaac and brother-in-law Henry Mendel.
33

 
 
Prospect Avenue at this time was the most prestigious residential street in the city and was rapidly 

filling up with mansions built by the city‟s elite.  The particular site on which the Emanuel Adler House 
was built had been part of the multi-acre estate of commodities speculator Joseph B. Oliver.  Oliver 
had begun buying up vacant parcels along the south side of Brady Street between Farwell and 

Prospect Avenues in 1873.  A year later, he built a fine Italianate style residence on what is now the 
site of 1671 North Prospect Avenue.  Portions of the Oliver estate were sold off in later years as he 
became financially pressed and the demand for housing sites on Prospect Avenue grew intense.  The 

Oliver‟s were finally forced to move their house to its present site at 1516 East Brady Street in 1892 in 
order to sell its former site on Prospect Avenue.  Prior to that time, however, one and one-half lots at 
the southwest corner of Prospect Avenue and Brady Street were sold through Oliver‟s trustee, Charles 

F. Ilsley, to Seligman Schloss of Detroit for $9,250 on February 24,1888.  Schloss, in turn, deeded the 
property to his daughter, Clara, on her wedding day to Emanuel Adler, May 3, 1888

34
.  Although 

Adler‟s name appears on the building permit for the house dated June 2,1888, newspaper accounts 

indicate that Schloss actually paid for the house as a wedding gift.  Local architect Alfred C. Clas, in 
independent practice after leaving a partnership with James Douglas in 1887, was chosen to design 
the house

35
.  The Adler‟s moved into the house in 1889.  The couple remained there throughout their 

married li fe and raised four children: Frederick Emanuel Adler (later of Sullivan, Wisconsin), Helen 
Theresa (later the wife of Karl O. Bellack and mother of Claire, Nancy and David), Carol Janet (later 
the wife of Robert E. Hine and mother of Robert and Nancy), and Frances Elsie, who remained single.  

Adler retired from business about 1930.  He was ill the last two years of his life and died in Phoenix, 
Arizona, where he had gone to spend the winter, in April of 1936

36
.  The house on Prospect Avenue 

remained vacant for a while after Adler‟s death and then was sold to John W. Ciselon on December 2, 

1937.  The place was subsequently converted into a rooming house.  Some alterations were made to 
the interior in the 1930‟s to accommodate its new use, including the addition of two bathrooms and the 
erection of partitions to close off some spaces to create bedrooms.  Later owners were August 

Remhorst and Peter A. Santner.  Santner‟s daughter, Betty Turecek, owned the property trough 1999 
and had run it as a rooming house.  The current owner, Amarjet Singh Kalsey lives on the premises 
with his mother and sister. The last tenant has recently moved out and the building is up for sale.  

 
In recognition of its architectural character and association with the Adler‟s, the Emanuel Adler House 
was listed in the National Register of Historic Places on September 13, 1991.  

 

                                                 
31 Milwaukee City Directory, 1872-1888 
32 Milwaukee Sentinel, May 4, 1999, p. 3, col. 3, and May 6, 1888, p.7 
33 Milwaukee Sentinel, December 27, 1885, p.12, col.5. 
34 Milwaukee County Register of Deeds and Mortgages. Vol. 239, p.17 and Vol. 238, P. 418  
35 Milwaukee Sentinel, May 4, 1888, p. 3, col. 3, and May 6, 1888, p.7, col 2; Building Permit, 1681 

North Prospect Avenue, June 22, 1888. 
36 “E.D. Adler, 18, Dead in West”.  
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 THE ARCHITECT  
 

The architect of the house, Alfred Charles Clas, (12/26/1859 – 7/8/1942) was born in Sauk City, 
Wisconsin, the son of German immigrants, Adam and Magdalene (Ernst) Clas.  He was educated in 
his hometown, and after graduating from high school served a short -term appointment as a 

messenger boy in the State Senate.  Clas subsequently apprenticed with an unnamed architect and 
also received two years of practical instruction in building construction.  In 1879 he went to Stockton, 
California and worked in an architect‟s office for almost two years.  Clas then returned to Wisconsin 

and settled in Milwaukee.  From about 1880-1884, he worked his way up from draftsman to architect in 
the offices of James Douglas.  From 1885-1886, the two were in partnership, but Clas left in 1887 to 
set up his own architectural practice. 

 
The Adler House is one of the few known projects designed by Clas in his short period of independent 
practice before he went into partnership with George B. Ferry in 1890.  These projects are virtually all 

Queen Anne style.  Among his larger residential commissions from this period, in addition to the Adler 
House, were the Bernard Eiring House (1888) at 2825 West Kilbourn Avenue (Concordia Historic 
District, NRHP), and the William H. Osborne House (1888)(Prospect Mansions Historic District, 

NRHP) at 1509 North Prospect Avenue.  Like the Adler House, the Eiring and Osborne Houses are 
large, picturesque, brick dwellings that are essentially Queen Anne in inspiration, although they do 
incorporate a few Romanesque features.  The Adler House is the most thoroughly Romanesque in 

character.  Clas designed few houses of this picturesque Victorian type after he entered into 
partnership with George B. Ferry in 1890.  Their subsequent residential projects became Period 
Revival in style.  Large-scale commercial and institutional buildings, such as the Milwaukee Public 

Library and Public Museum, gave them recognition in the 1890‟s and early 1900‟s.  
 
Later in his career, Clas went into partnership with his sons and was very much involved with urban 

planning and civic projects.  He took an active role in planning Milwaukee‟s Civic Center, the 
beautification of the Milwaukee River, and the development of Lincoln Memorial Drive and Parkway.  
He also laid out many of the city‟s boulevards, and planned and supervised the construction of many 

of the city‟s park buildings.  He served on the City Board of Park Commissioners and the County Parks 
Commission.  He was one of the city‟s better-known urban design professionals until his death in 
1942. 

 
 
 

IX. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Staff recommends that the Emanuel D. Adler House at 1681 North Prospect Avenue be studied for possible 

designation as a City of Milwaukee Historic Structure as a result of its possible fulfillment of the following 
criterion of the Historic Preservation Ordinance, Section 308-81(2)(e), of the Milwaukee Code of Ordinances:  
 

e-1.  Its exemplification of the development of the cultural, economic, social or historic heritage of 
the City of Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin or of the United States.  

 

 RATIONALE: Emanuel Adler represents the successful second generation of an immigrant 
family whose business was at one time one of the largest ready-to-wear companies in the city.  
The Adler‟s solidified their early successful business through government contracts during the 

Civil War and went on to produce a product that was prominent from the late 1840‟s through 
the 1920‟s.  Their brand of Adler Collegian Clothes was known from coast to coast and much 
advertised.  The prominent building erected by the firm for their manufacturing at the 

southeast corner of Clybourn and Water Streets has been demolished.  Other previous 
residences of the Adler family have also been demolished.  The Emanuel Adler House on 
Prospect Avenue is the sole extant building constructed for an Adler family member and the 

only one through which their contribution to Milwaukee‟s economy can be remembered. 
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The Adler House is also an important survivor of the era when Prospect Avenue was known 
as Milwaukee‟s Gold Coast.  Only fifteen residences remain out of the dozens that once lined 

the avenue.  Ten are located within the Prospect Avenue Mansions National Register Historic 
District.  The McIntosh/Wisconsin Conservatory of Music, the Charles Allis and the Kane 
House have dual National Register and Local Historic Designation.  The surviving examples 

display the variety in size, design, materials and craftsmanship that set them apart from other 
large houses in adjacent neighborhoods.   

 

 
e-5.  Its embodiment of the distinguishing characteristics of an architectural type of specimen.  
  

 RATIONALE: The Adler House is an excellent example of an 1880‟s Queen Anne style 
building with Romanesque detailing.  While stone castellated mansions like the David M. 
Benjamin House and the Val Blatz Jr. House existed on Prospect Avenue, the Adler House 

was one of the few, and now the only surviving example, of the hybrid form that combined 
stone, brick, terra cotta and shingles for a layered, textural, picturesque building that requires 
repeated viewings in order to discern all of its complexities.  While not as large as the 

monumental Fairlawn in Superior, Wisconsin, it nevertheless is of the highest quality and 
represents a more compact urban form of the style.  In recognition of its architectural 
importance the Adler House was listed in the National register of Historic Places on 

September 13, 1991.   
 
 

e-6.  Its identification as the work of an artist, architect, interior designer, craftsperson or master 
builder whose individual works have influenced the development of the City of Milwaukee, 
State of Wisconsin or of the United States.  

 
 RATIONALE: Architect Alfred C. Clas was one of the most influential designers of his era.  His 

work encompassed a broad range of styles from Queen Anne to Beaux Arts to Tudor Revival.  

His importance to civic projects in Milwaukee and his work in urban planning cannot be 
underestimated.  Clas served on the City Board of Park commissioners and the County Parks 
Commission.  He took an active role in planning Milwaukee‟s Civic Center, the development of 

Lincoln Memorial Drive and designed and supervised many of the city‟s park buildings and 
boulevards.  The Adler House is one of the few known extant projects designed by Clas in his 
short period of independent practice before he went into partnership with George B. Ferry in 

1890.  Recent research indicates that Clas was at the forefront of current architectural trends 
and was one of the few Milwaukee architects designing residences in the Romanesque style.  
While some produced more literal interpretations of the form like the Henry Uihlein House (437 

W. Galena St., razed) Clas designed very beautifully articulated residences that combined 
elements from both the Romanesque and Queen Anne Styles.  The Adler House is the sole 
known extant example of this form and one of Clas‟ last forays into highly picturesque 

buildings.  After Clas entered into partnership with George B. Ferry in 1890 these flamboyant 
qualities would be replaced by the more subdued Classical Revival.  

 

e-9 Its unique location as a singular physical characteristic which represents an established and 
familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community or the city of Milwaukee.  

 

 RATIONALE: The Adler House has long anchored the corner of Prospect and Brady Street.  A 
busy site, the house visually connects with the National Register-listed Joseph B. Oliver 
House at 1516 E. Brady St. (the Adler House stands on the former Oliver estate) and serves 

as the entrée to the Brady Street Historic District that begins a block away.  
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PRESERVATION GUIDELINES 
 

The following preservation guidelines represent the principal concerns of the Historic Preservation 
Commission regarding this historic designation.  However, the Commission reserves the right to make 
final decisions based upon particular design submissions.  Nothing in these guidelines shall be 

construed to prevent ordinary maintenance or the restoration and/or replacement of documented 
original elements.  
 

A. Roofs  
 

Retain the roof shape since the complex profiles are an essential part of the building‟s design.  

The addition of skylights or new dormers is discouraged but may be added to roof surfaces 
that are not visible from the street or public right of way and if they do not impact or diminish 
original dormers.  Avoid making changes to the roof shape that would alter the building height, 

roofline or pitch.  If replacement is necessary, duplicate the appearance of the original roofing 
material as closely as possible.  Existing dormers are to be retained.  Mechanical systems and 
vents are to be located on portions of the roof not visible from the public right of way and 

should be painted out to minimize impact. 
 

B. Materials  

 
1. Wood/Metal  
 

a. Retain original material, whenever possible.  Avoid removing architectural 
features that are essential to maintaining the building's character and 
appearance such as the oriel windows or window enframements, etc. 

b. Retain or replace deteriorated material with new material that duplicates the 
appearance and dimension of the old as closely as possible and that uses 
wood species.  Avoid covering architectural features with new materials that 

do not duplicate the appearance of the original materials.  Covering wood trim 
with aluminum or vinyl is not permitted.  

 

2 Masonry  
 

a. Unpainted brick, terra cotta, or stone should not be painted or covered.  Avoid 

painting or covering natural terra cotta or stone.  This is historically incorrect 
and could cause irreversible damage if it was decided to remove the paint at a 
later date. 

 
b. Repoint defective mortar by duplicating the original in color, style, texture 

strength and color.  Avoid using mortar colors and pointing styles that were 

unavailable or were not used when the building was constructed  
 

c. Clean masonry only when necessary to halt deterioration and with the 

gentlest method possible.  Sandblasting or high pressure water blasting or the 
use of other abrasive materials on limestone, terra cotta, brick or cream brick 
surfaces is prohibited.  This method of cleaning erodes the surface of the 

material and accelerates deterioration.  Avoid the indiscriminate use of 
chemical products that could have an adverse reaction with the masonry 
materials, such as the use of acid on limestone.  

 
d. Repair or replace deteriorated material with new material that duplicates the 

old as closely as possible.  Avoid using new material that is inappropriate or 

was unavailable when the building was constructed. 
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C. Windows and Doors 
 

1. Retain existing window and door openings.  Retain the existing configuration of 
panes, sash, surrounds and sills, except as necessary to restore to the original 
condition.  Avoid making additional openings or changes in existing fenestration by 

enlarging or reducing window or door openings to fit new stock window sash or new 
stock door sizes.  Avoid changing the size or configuration of windowpanes or sash.  
Use storm windows or protective glazing that have glazing configurations similar to 

the prime windows and that obscure the prime windows as little as possible.  Any 
leaded/stained glass windows will be retained in their present locations. 

 

2. Respect the building‟s stylistic period.  If the replacement of doors or window sash is 
necessary, the replacement should duplicate the appearance, design, size and 
material of the original window sash or door.  Avoid using inappropriate sash and door 

replacements.  Avoid the filling-in or covering of original openings with inappropriate 
materials such as glass block or concrete block.  Avoid using modern style window 
units, such as horizontal sliding sash or casements, in place of double-hung sash or 

the substitution of units with glazing configurations not appropriate to the style of the 
building.  Vinyl or metal clad prime window units are not permitted.  Glass block 
basements windows are not permitted, nut may be approved on a case-by-case basis 

on elevations where they will not be visible from the street.  The original entry doors 
with decorative hardware and the inner double doors may not be removed  

 

3. Exterior mounted steel bar security doors and window guards are generally not 
allowed.  If permitted, the doors or grates shall be of the simplest design and installed 
so as to be as unobtrusive as possible.  

 
D. Trim and Ornamentation 
 

There should be no changes to the existing trim or ornamentation except as necessary to 
restore the building to its original condition.  Replacement features shall match the original 
member in scale, design, color, appearance and material.  Given the extraordinary level of 

detail in the building, it is recommended that existing trim be repaired with epoxies or 
consolidants or by inserting matching species of wood rather than entirely removed and 
replicated 

 
E. Additions  
 

No additions will be permitted on the east, north or south elevations.  Any other addition 
requires the approval of the Commission.  Approval shall be based upon the addition‟s design 
compatibility with the building in terms of height, roof configuration, fenestration, scale, design, 

color and materials, and the degree to which it visually intrudes upon the principal elevations 
or is visible from the public right-of-way.  The non-historic concrete block garage that dates 
from 1934 may be replaced with a garage that is more coach-house in appearance.  

 
F. Signs/Exterior Lighting 
 

The installation of any permanent exterior sign or light fixture shall require the approval of the 
Commission.  Approval will be based on the compatibility of the proposed sign or light with the 
historic and architectural character of the building.  Plastic internally illuminated box signs are 

not permitted.  
 

G. Site Features 

 
New plant materials, paving, fencing or accessory structures shall be compatible with the 
historic architectural character of the building if visible from the public right of way.  
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H. Guidelines for New Construction 

 
It is important that new construction, such as garages or carriage barns or accessory 
buildings, be designed to be as sympathetic as possible with the character of the structure.  

 
1. Siting 
 

New construction must respect the historic siting of the building.  It should be 
accomplished so as to maintain the appearance of the building from the street as a 
freestanding structure.  

 
2. Scale 

 

Overall building height and bulk, the expression of major building divisions including 
foundation, body and roof, and individual building components, such as overhangs 
and fenestration that are in close proximity to a historic building must be compatible to 

and sympathetic with the design of the original building.  
 

3. Form 

 
The massing of the new construction must be compatible with the goal of maintaining 
the integrity of the building as a freestanding structure.  The profiles of roofs and 

building elements that project and receded from the main block should express the 
same continuity established by the historic building if they are in close proximity to it. 

 

4. Materials  
 

The building materials, which are visible from the public right-of-way and in close 

proximity to the building, should be consistent with the colors, textures, proportions, 
and combinations of cladding materials used on the building.  This physical 
composition of the materials may be different from that of the historic materials, but 

the same appearance should be maintained. 
 

I. Guidelines for Demolition 

 
Although demolition is not encouraged and is generally not permissible, there may be 
instances when demolition may be acceptable if approved by the Historic Preservation 

Commission.  The following guidelines, with those found in subsection 9(h) of the ordinance, 
shall be taken into consideration by the Commission when reviewing demolition requests. 
 

1. Condition 
 

Demolition requests may be granted when it can be clearly demonstrated that the 

condition of a building or a portion thereof is such that it constitutes an immediate 
threat to health and safety and is beyond hope of repair.  

 

2. Importance 
 

Consideration will be given to whether or not the building is of historical or 

architectural significance or displays a quality of material and craftsmanship that does 
not exist in other structures in the area.  

 

3. Location 
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Consideration will be given to whether or not the building contributes to the 
neighborhood and the general street appearance and has a positive effect on other 

buildings in the area.  
 

4. Potential for Restoration 

 
Consideration will be given to whether or not the building is beyond economically 
feasible repair. 

 
5. Additions  

 

Consideration will be given to whether or not the proposed demolition is a later 
addition that is not in keeping with the original design of the structure or does not 
contribute to its character. 

 
 
 

 


